

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

5123:2-9-19      **HCBS Home and community-based services waivers - ~~payment standards~~ general requirements for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, supported employment-community, and non-medical transportation.**

(A) Purpose

The purpose of this rule is to establish the standards governing payment for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, supported employment-community, and non-medical transportation ~~services~~ provided to individuals enrolled in HCBS home and community-based services waivers administered by the department ~~and to implement sections 5111.871 and 5111.873 of the Revised Code.~~

(B) Definitions

(1) "Acuity assessment instrument" means the standardized instrument utilized by the department to assess the relative non-residential services needs and circumstances of an adult individual compared to other ~~adults~~ adult individuals in a non-residential setting when for purposes of receiving adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation. Scores resulting from administration of the acuity assessment instrument have been grouped into ranges and subsequently linked with staffing intensity ratio expectations that result in four payment rates ~~that have been~~ calibrated on group size that apply to adult day support, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation. [The definition of "ODMRDD acuity assessment instrument" is in paragraph (B)(17) of the currently effective rule.]

~~(1)(2)~~ "Administrative review" means the processes internal to the department and subject to ~~ODJFS~~ oversight by the Ohio department of job and family services ~~that will be~~ available to individuals who believe that their ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument scores, their placement in group A, A-1, or B and the subsequent calculation of their budget limitation prohibit their access to or continuation in the adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services they have selected. This review is not applicable to non-medical transportation ~~services~~ or individuals with placement in group C.

~~(2)(3)~~ "Adult day support" ~~means an HCBS waiver service as defined~~ has the same meaning as in rule 5123:2-9-17 of the Administrative Code.

~~(3)~~ "Agency provider" means a person, ~~other than an individual provider or county board, that provides adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services and/or~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~non-medical transportation services to access adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services to individuals enrolled in HCBS waivers administered by the department.~~ [Term no longer used in this rule.]

- (4) "Budget limitation" means the funding amount available to enable ~~each~~ an individual to receive adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and supported employment-community services within each waiver eligibility span. A separate ~~annual~~ budget limitation ~~amount will~~ shall be established to enable ~~each~~ an individual to receive non-medical transportation ~~services to access adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and supported employment community services~~ within each waiver eligibility span. The budget limitation applicable to adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation and the budget limitation applicable to non-medical transportation are above and beyond the funding range to which an individual enrolled in the individual options waiver has been assigned. [The concept addressed by the last sentence of this paragraph has been moved here from paragraph (B)(10).]
- (5) "County board" means a county board of ~~mental retardation and developmental disabilities that performs HCBS waiver administration functions either independently, within a regional council of governments formed under Chapter 167. of the Revised Code, or through a private entity that contracts with a county board for administration of HCBS waivers and the entity does not provide any service other than administration to the individuals of that county.~~ [To align with definition used in newer rules.]
- (6) "Daily billing unit" means a billing unit and corresponding rate that shall be used when between five and seven hours of adult day support or vocational habilitation or supported employment-enclave services or a combination of adult day support and vocational habilitation services are provided by the same provider to the same individual during one calendar day.
- (7) "Department" means the Ohio department of ~~mental retardation and developmental disabilities as established by section 121.02 of the Revised Code.~~ [To align with definition used in newer rules.]
- (8) "Direct services staff" means ~~personnel who meet the certification requirements promulgated by the department necessary to provide one or more of the HCBS waiver services of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community.~~ [This does not seem necessary. Paragraph (E)(13) sets forth that only direct services staff who meet certification standards for the waiver service being provided can bill for the service. Paragraph (E)(14) sets forth that supervisors and professional staff

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

shall not be counted in staff ratios. "Professional staff" is defined in paragraph (B)(14).]

- (9)(8) "Fifteen-minute billing unit" means a billing unit that is equivalent to fifteen minutes of actual service delivery time. Minutes of service provided to an eligible individual for adult day support, vocational habilitation, a combination of ~~these two services~~ adult day support and vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services may be accrued by one provider over one calendar day. The number of units is equivalent to the total number of minutes of each type of service, as distinguished by service codes, provided during the day to the individual, divided by fifteen minutes. One additional unit of service may be added to this quotient if the remainder equals eight or more minutes of service.
- (10)(9) "Funding range" means one of the dollar ranges contained in appendix ~~€~~ A to rule 5123:2-9-06 of the Administrative Code to which individuals enrolled in the individual options waiver have been assigned for the purpose of funding ~~waiver services other than adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, non-medical transportation, and vocational habilitation.~~ The budget limitations defined in this rule that are applicable to the provision of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and supported employment community services as well as non-medical transportation services are not subject to the funding ranges to which individuals have been assigned. When these services are provided to individuals participating in the level one waiver they are not subject to benefit package limitations described in Chapter 5123:2-8 of the Administrative Code.
- (11) "Guardian" means ~~a guardian appointed by the probate court under Chapter 2111. of the Revised Code. If the individual is a minor for whom no guardian has been appointed under that chapter, "guardian" means the individual's parents. If no guardians have been appointed for a minor and the minor is in the legal or permanent custody of a government agency or person other than the minor's natural or adoptive parents, "guardian" means that government agency or person. "Guardian" also includes an agency under contract with the department for the provision of protective services under sections 5123.55 to 5123.59 of the Revised Code.~~ ["Guardian" is not defined in newer rules.]
- (12)(10) "Individual" means a person with ~~mental retardation or other~~ a developmental disability who is eligible to receive HCBS waiver services as an alternative to placement in an intermediate care facility for the mentally retarded under the applicable HCBS waiver. A guardian may take action on behalf of an individual, may make choices for an individual, or may receive notice on behalf of an individual to the extent permitted by applicable law. or for purposes of giving, refusing to give, or withdrawing consent for services, his or her guardian in accordance with section 5126.043 of the Revised Code. [Aligns with definition used in newer rules.]

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- (13) ~~"Individual provider" means a self-employed person who provides supported employment community services and/or non-medical transportation services to access adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services to individuals enrolled in an HCBS waiver administered by the department and does not employ, either directly, or through a contract, anyone else to provide the services.~~ [Term no longer used in this rule.]
- (14)(11) ~~"ISP" means the individual service plan,~~ "Individual service plan" means a written description of the services, supports, and activities to be provided to an individual.
- (12) "Integrated community work setting" means paid employment of an individual in competitive employment, supported employment (as one person or as a member of a group), or self-employment through the operation of a business that takes place outside of a segregated, sheltered, or facility-based program.
- (15)(13) ~~"Non-medical transportation" means an HCBS waiver service as defined~~ has the same meaning as in rule 5123:2-9-18 of the Administrative Code.
- (16) ~~"ODJFS" means the Ohio department of job and family services as established by section 121.02 of the Revised Code.~~ [Acronym no longer used in this rule.]
- (17) ~~"ODMRDD acuity assessment instrument" means the standardized instrument utilized by the department to assess the relative needs and circumstances of an individual compared to other adults in a non-residential setting when receiving adult day support, vocational habilitation, and supported employment enclave services. Scores resulting from administration of the ODMRDD acuity assessment instrument have been grouped into ranges and subsequently linked with staffing intensity ratio expectations that result in four payment rates that have been calibrated on group size.~~ ["Acuity assessment instrument" is now defined in paragraph (B)(1).]
- (18) ~~"Payment authorization for waiver services" (PAWS) means the process followed and the form used to communicate the amount of payment for each waiver service that has been established through the approved ISP process and is contained in the ISP for an eligible HCBS waiver enrollee.~~
- (19)(14) "Professional staff" includes licensed nurses, physical therapists, and physical therapy assistants, occupational therapists, and occupational therapy assistants, psychologists, speech therapists/audiologists, social workers, dietitians, and physicians.
- (20) ~~"Provider" means an agency, county board, or individual provider that:~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- ~~(a) Is certified by the department to provide medicaid funded home and community based services; and~~
- ~~(b) Has a medicaid provider agreement from the ODJFS.~~
- ~~(21)(15) "SSA" means a service and support administrator who is certified in accordance with rules adopted by the department under Chapter 5123:2-5 of the Administrative Code and who performs the functions of service and support administration. "Service and support administrator" means a person, regardless of title, employed by or under contract with a county board to perform the functions of service and support administration and who holds the appropriate certification in accordance with rule 5123:2-5-02 of the Administrative Code.~~  
[Aligns with definition used in newer rules.]
- ~~(22)(16) "Staff intensity" means the minimum portion of time, as calculated in decimals and reflected in appendix D A to this rule, that one direct services staff position is required to provide adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave services to an individual. When determining that a sufficient number of direct services staff are available to provide services at the staff intensity ratio indicated by each individual's ODMRDD acuity assessment instrument score, a certified provider may aggregate the staff intensity ratio needs for all waiver enrollees and non waiver enrollees individuals (including those who are enrolled in home and community-based services waivers and those who are not) receiving services in one service delivery location during one calendar day.~~
- ~~(23)(17) "Supported employment-community" means an HCBS waiver service as defined has the same meaning as in rule 5123:2-9-16 5123:2-9-15 of the Administrative Code.~~
- ~~(24)(18) "Supported employment-enclave" means an HCBS waiver service as defined has the same meaning as in rule 5123:2-9-16 of the Administrative Code.~~
- ~~(25) "Transportation" means an HCBS waiver service as defined in rule 5123:2-9-06 of the Administrative Code. [Term not used in this rule.]~~
- ~~(26)(19) "Vocational habilitation" means an HCBS waiver service as defined has the same meaning as in rule 5123:2-9-17 5123:2-9-14 of the Administrative Code.~~
- ~~(27)(20) "Waiver eligibility span" means the twelve-month period following either an individual's initial enrollment date or a subsequent eligibility re-determination date.~~

~~(C) Payment rate requirements~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~Providers shall be reimbursed at the lesser of the charges that they include on the claims they submit for payment or the statewide payment rate for each waiver service that is delivered. A single provider may charge different amounts for the same service when the service is provided in different geographic areas of the state. Payment rates are contained in appendix C to this rule. [Addressed in paragraph (J)(1) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(D) Statewide payment rates~~

- ~~(1) ODJFS retains the final authority, based on the recommendation of the department, to establish payment rates for all waiver services included in HCBS waivers administered by the department. The service codes and payment rates for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, supported employment community, and non-medical transportation services are included in appendix C to this rule. [The first sentence of this paragraph addressed in paragraph (M) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06. The service codes and payment rates for adult day services are being moved to the respective service rules.]~~
- ~~(2) The billing codes and payment rates for supported employment waiver services are contained in rule 5123:2-9-06 of the Administrative Code. [The supported employment service no longer exists.]~~
- ~~(3) Direct services staff are required to deliver waiver services to an individual in order to justify billing for adult day support and/or vocational habilitation services. When providing supported employment enclave and/or supported employment community services, direct services staff responsibilities and associated billing for waiver services may include those times when the individual is not physically present and staff is performing supported employment enclave and supported employment community services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-16 of the Administrative Code, on behalf of the individual. [Addressed in the respective service rules.]~~
- ~~(4) Payment rates for services shall include an adjustment factor for geography based on the county cost of doing business category. The county cost of doing business category for an individual is the category assigned to the county in which the waiver service is actually provided for the preponderance of time. The cost of doing business categories and the counties assigned to each are contained in appendix A to this rule. [Addressed in the respective service rules.]~~
- ~~(5) The department shall periodically collect reimbursement information for a comprehensive, statistically valid sample of individuals from the agencies and individuals providing HCBS at the time the information is collected. Based upon the department's review of the information, the department shall recommend to ODJFS any changes necessary to assure that the payment amounts are sufficient to enlist enough waiver providers so that waiver services~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~are readily available to individuals, to the extent that these types of services are available to the general population, and that provider reimbursement is consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care. ODJFS retains the final authority to make this determination. [Addressed in paragraph (J)(8) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(E)~~(C) Acuity assessments, staff intensity group assignments, and budget limitations

- (1) ~~SSAs~~ Service and support administrators employed by county boards shall review and approve information contained on the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument for each ~~waiver enrollee~~ individual enrolled in a waiver for whom adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, or supported employment-community services have been authorized through the individual ~~planning~~ service plan development process that is submitted to the department. ~~Application of the ODMRDD acuity assessment instrument ensures that similarly situated individuals have access to comparable waiver services reimbursed in accordance with this rule on a statewide basis.~~
- (2) Information needed to complete the assessment shall be provided by informants who know the capabilities and ~~limitations~~ needs of the individual outside of his/her residence, in the adult day service setting. Informants may include the individual himself/herself, direct services providers, guardians, advocates, and family members. The ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator and/or an individual designated by the ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator shall submit information in electronic format to the department. The information will be automatically scored ~~as the result of completion of each assessment.~~
- (3) The score resulting from administration of the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument will result in the assignment of the individual by the ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator to one of four groups that correlate with the staff intensity ratios required. These group assignments will be applied to determine the rates paid when individuals receive adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave ~~services only~~. The scores and related staffing calculations are contained in appendix ~~D~~ A to this rule.
- (4) Following assignment of the individual to one of four staff intensity groups, the ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator will determine the budget limitations for individuals receiving adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, or supported employment-community services. The budget limitations are contained in appendix ~~B~~ C to this rule.
- (5) ~~In addition, the SSA~~ The service and support administrator will assign to the individual the budget limitation for the provision of non-medical transportation services to access adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, or supported employment-community ~~services~~ when the need for ~~the service(s)~~ non-medical transportation has been identified through

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

the ~~ISP-planning~~ individual service plan development process. These budget limitations are also contained in appendix ~~B~~ C to this rule.

- (6) The ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator shall inform each ~~waiver enrollee/guardian~~ individual of the acuity assessment instrument score, the resulting group assignment, and related budget limitations:
  - (a) At the time the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument is initially administered;
  - (b) At any time the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument is re-administered and results in a score that places an individual in a different group; and
  - (c) At any time the individual receives the preponderance of adult day services in a new county that results in a change in the cost-of-doing-business ~~factor~~ category applied to the payment rate.
- (7) A budget limitation established for an individual shall change only when changes in assessment variable scores on the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument that justify assignment of a new staff intensity group have occurred and/or the individual receives the preponderance of adult day services in a county with a different cost-of-doing-business ~~factor~~ category. Responses to any or all ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument variables can be revised at any time at the request of the individual or at the discretion of the ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator, with the individual's knowledge.
- (8) The department shall periodically re-examine the scoring of the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument and the linkage of the scores to staff intensity ratios ~~no later than twenty four months following the effective date of this rule and, at the department's discretion, periodically thereafter.~~

~~(F) Calculation of budget limitations~~

- ~~(1) The budget limitations for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services, as reflected in appendix B to this rule, have been determined by use of a projected service utilization of two hundred forty days per year multiplied by 6.25 hours of attendance each day multiplied by four fifteen minute units per hour to obtain the maximum base of six thousand fifteen minute units of service that may be received per person per twelve month waiver eligibility span. The six thousand units are then multiplied by the rate for adult day support/vocational habilitation services that corresponds to the group to which each individual would be assigned based on completion of the ODMRDD acuity assessment instrument. The rate selected when calculating an individual's budget limitation is further determined by the cost of doing business factor that applies to the county in which the individual is anticipated to receive the preponderance of these~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~services. This budget limitation is calculated on a per person basis and is applicable to the twelve month waiver eligibility span for each eligible individual.~~

~~(2) The budget limitation for non-medical transportation services to access adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services is reflected in appendix B to this rule. This budget limitation has been determined by multiplying the value of two one-way trips by two hundred forty days per year by the per-trip value adjusted by the cost of doing business factor that applies to the county in which the individual is anticipated to receive the preponderance of non-medical transportation services. This budget limitation is calculated on a per person basis and is applicable to the twelve month waiver eligibility span for each eligible individual.~~

(9) Budget limitations are calculated on a per-person basis for each waiver eligibility span. Budget limitations are adjusted by the cost-of-doing-business category that applies to the county in which the individual receives the preponderance of services.

~~(3)(10) The budget limitations applicable to limitation for non-medical transportation services shall not be combined with the budget limitations applicable to limitation for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services to enable an individual to increase the availability of one or more of these services or for any other purpose.~~

~~(G)(D) ISP planning~~ Individual service plan development process

(1) An eligible individual may elect to receive one, some, or all of the adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and supported employment-community service choices plus non-medical transportation to access one or more of these services. These services shall be ~~delivered in accordance with ISPs provided pursuant to an individual service plan that conforms to the requirements of paragraph (H) of rule 5101:3-40-01 of the Administrative Code or paragraph (H) of rule 5101:3-42-01 of the Administrative code, as applicable, that are and~~ developed through the ISP planning process defined set forth in rule 5123:2-1-11 of the Administrative Code.

(2) Home and community-based services are intended to increase an individual's community participation. Therefore, when adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation are provided in a sheltered environment, the individual service plan shall include a justification as to why a sheltered environment is more appropriate than an integrated community work setting.

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- (3) Individual service plans shall include services regardless of funding source (e.g., state plan services, services through the local education agency, services through the rehabilitation services commission, and informal supports) that complement the adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation services outlined in the individual service plan.
- (2)(4) ~~ISPs~~ Individual service plans shall indicate the staff intensity ratios at which adult day support, vocational habilitation, and supported employment-enclave services are to be delivered, as defined in appendix ~~D~~ A to this rule. When a ~~waiver enrollee~~ an individual enrolled in a waiver receives one or more of these services in a group setting with one or more individuals who ~~do not receive waiver services~~ are not enrolled in a waiver, the staff intensity ratios of the ~~non-waiver enrollees~~ individuals who are not enrolled in a waiver shall be identified through the ~~ISP~~ applicable individual service plan development process ~~applicable to them~~. Providers are not required to use, but may use, the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument to determine the staff intensity ratios of ~~non-waiver enrollees~~ individuals who are not enrolled in a waiver.
- (3)(5) The county board shall determine whether the ~~annualized~~ annual cost for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services can be met by or exceeds the assigned budget limitation for the individual. The county board also shall determine whether the ~~annualized~~ annual cost for non-medical transportation ~~services to access these services~~ can be met by or exceeds the assigned budget limitation for the individual. The ~~SSA~~ service and support administrator shall inform the individual of these determinations in accordance with procedures developed by the department.
- (4)(6) If an individual requests a change in the frequency and/or duration of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, supported employment-community, and/or non-medical transportation services, the request may result in an increase or decrease in the annual cost for these services, based on the outcome of the ~~ISP-planning~~ individual service plan development process. The county board has the authority and responsibility to make changes, which result from the ~~ISP-planning~~ individual service plan development process when the services are within the budget limitations determined in accordance with paragraph (E) of this rule.
- (5)(7) ~~No prior~~ Prior state level review ~~will~~ shall not be required for the initiation and/or changes in services that can occur within the ~~annual~~ budget limitation resulting from a change in ~~ISP services that have~~ the individual service plan that has been agreed to by an individual through the ~~ISP-planning~~ individual service plan development process.

**\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\***

~~(6)~~(8) Changes in the assignment of ~~annual~~ budget limitations made by county boards are subject to review by the department and approval by ~~ODJFS~~ the Ohio department of job and family services.

~~(7)~~(9) Neither the department nor the county board shall approve a change in ~~an individual~~ a budget limitation or assign a new budget limitation after notification that the individual has requested a hearing concerning the approval, denial, reduction, or termination of services in an ~~ISP~~ individual service plan that has been developed within the funding parameters of this rule by requesting a hearing pursuant to section 5101.35 of the Revised Code.

~~(H) Implementation schedule for conducting acuity assessments, completing staff intensity group assignments, and assigning budget limitations~~

~~(1) Individuals who were receiving day habilitation services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-10 of the Administrative Code, prior to the effective date of this rule and who are eligible for and wish to receive one or more of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, supported employment community, or non-medical transportation services shall be assigned to a staff intensity group and shall have applicable budget limitations established for these services according to a transition schedule submitted by the county board and approved by the department. In no instance shall any individual receive day habilitation services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-10 of the Administrative Code, beyond the date agreed to by the federal centers for medicare and medicaid services.~~

~~(2) Individuals who were receiving supported employment services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-13 of the Administrative Code, prior to the effective date of this rule and who are eligible for and wish to receive one or more of supported employment enclave, supported employment community, or non-medical transportation services shall be assigned to a staff intensity group and shall have applicable budget limitations established for these services according to a transition schedule submitted by the county board and approved by the department. In no instance shall any individual receive supported employment services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-13 of the Administrative Code, beyond the date agreed to by the federal centers for medicare and medicaid services.~~

~~(3) Within forty-five calendar days following the effective date of this rule, each county board shall provide to the department a plan of how the county board will implement paragraphs (H)(1) and (H)(2) of this rule. The information shall be provided in accordance with timelines and in the format prescribed by the department.~~

~~(a) The county board plan shall be subject to modification by the department.~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- ~~(b) Nothing in this paragraph shall be interpreted to prevent a county board, an individual, and a provider from agreeing to accelerate the transition timelines contained in paragraph (H) of this rule when the department approves the accelerated phase-in period and activities.~~
- ~~(c) The county board shall participate in a quarterly process of reporting the progress of the transition to the department. Any modifications of the county board plan initially approved by the department shall be reported as a component of the quarterly report.~~
- ~~(4) Individuals who transition to receiving adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment enclave services shall not be eligible to receive day habilitation services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-10 of the Administrative Code, effective on the date of transition. Individuals who transition to receiving supported employment enclave and/or supported employment community services shall not be eligible to receive day habilitation services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-10 of the Administrative Code, or supported employment services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-13 of the Administrative Code, effective on the date of transition.~~
- ~~(5) Individuals enrolled in an HCBS waiver administered by the department on or after the effective date of this rule may elect to receive day habilitation services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-10 of the Administrative Code or, as an alternative, may elect to receive adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment enclave services. These same individuals may elect to receive supported employment services, as defined in rule 5123:2-9-13 of the Administrative Code, or as an alternative, may elect to receive supported employment community services. Neither day habilitation nor supported employment services shall be available to these individuals beyond the date agreed to by the federal centers for medicare and medicaid services.~~
- ~~(6) Individuals enrolled in an HCBS waiver administered by the department on or after the effective date of this rule and authorized by the ISP and reflected in PAWS to receive adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, supported employment community, and/or non-medical transportation services shall be assigned to a staff intensity group for applicable services and also shall have budget limitations established for these services within thirty days following enrollment.~~
- ~~(7) At no time shall an individual receive day habilitation services when receiving adult day support, vocational habilitation, or supported employment enclave services. At no time shall an individual receive supported employment services when receiving supported employment community services.~~
- ~~(H)(E) Group size, billing units, documentation, and payment conditions~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- (1) When an individual has been assigned to a staff intensity group for the purposes of receiving adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave ~~services~~, billing must correspond to the rates assigned for that group. Because ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument scores relating to assignment of an individual to the A and A-1 staff intensity groups are identical, assignment of an individual to one of these two groups will be based upon the staffing needs of the individual as identified in the ~~ISP-planning individual service plan development~~ process and reflected in the ~~ISP individual service plan~~. ~~These payment rates, as adjusted for cost of doing business factors, as well as applicable service codes are contained in appendix C to this rule.~~ [Payment rates are in the service rules.]
- (2) Changes in group assignments, other than changes between groups A and A-1, may be made only as the result of a change in the acuity assessment instrument score of an individual or as the result of an administrative review decision made by the department or receipt of a formal due process appeal decision rendered by ~~ODJFS~~ the Ohio department of job and family services.
- (3) When the same certified provider provides less than five or more than seven hours of adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave or a combination of adult day support and vocational habilitation ~~services~~ during one calendar day to the same individual, the provider shall use fifteen-minute billing units for all services.
- (4) When more than one certified provider provides adult day support, vocational habilitation, or supported employment-enclave ~~services~~ or a combination of these services during one calendar day to the same individual, all providers shall use fifteen-minute billing units for all services.
- (5) When only one certified provider provides adult day support, vocational habilitation, or supported employment-enclave ~~services~~ or a combination of adult day support and vocational habilitation ~~services~~ during any one calendar day to the same individual, the provider shall use a daily billing unit when providing between five and seven hours of one or more of these services.
- (6) Daily billing units and fifteen-minute billing units may not be combined during the same calendar day for the same individual.
- (7) For purposes of calculating staff intensity assignments, staff ratios do not change during those times when individuals, for whom staff is responsible, are not present physically, but are within verbal, visual, or technological supervision of the staff providing the service. Technological supervision includes staff contact with individuals through telecommunication and/or electronic signaling devices.
- ~~(8) Billing for adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave services shall not be adjusted for group size since rates~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~have been constructed using an expected and published staff intensity ratio for groups of individuals served.~~ [Addressed in adult day support, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation rules.]

~~(9) Certified providers of non-medical transportation service who are using wheelchair accessible vehicles of any capacity and/or non wheelchair accessible vehicles with a capacity of nine or more passengers are eligible to bill on a per trip basis when the providers of this service and the drivers/attendants of these vehicles meet the certification standards contained in rule 5123:2-9-18 of the Administrative Code. Individuals must be in the vehicle to access the per trip rate. Per trip billing shall occur on a per person served basis and shall not be adjusted for group size.~~ [Addressed in non-medical transportation rule.]

~~(10) Certified providers of non-medical transportation service who are using vehicles with a capacity of eight or fewer passengers that are not adapted to accommodate wheelchairs or who are using wheelchair accessible vehicles that do not meet the certification standards necessary to bill on a per trip basis are eligible to bill on a per mile basis when providers of this service and the drivers/attendants of these vehicles meet the certification standards contained in rule 5123:2-9-18 of the Administrative Code. Individuals shall be in the vehicle during the times the provider bills the per mile rate except that billing may occur on a per mile basis when non-medical transportation is being provided on behalf of an individual who is receiving job development and placement services as defined in rule 5123:2-9-16 of the Administrative Code. Per mile billing shall occur on a per person served basis, adjusted for group size.~~ [Addressed in non-medical transportation rule.]

~~(J) Eligible service providers and documentation of service delivery~~

~~(1)(8)~~ Documentation and payment for services ~~other than non-medical transportation~~ adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation shall be based on fifteen-minute billing units or a daily billing unit or both types of units. A combination of daily billing units and fifteen-minute billing units may be used for the same individuals during any calendar week, subject to the provisions contained in paragraph ~~(I)~~ (E) of this rule.

~~(2)~~ To justify billing for an individual at the rate that correlates with the assigned group of A, A-1, B, or C on each day of service, each provider of services must complete all elements of documentation described in appendix E to this rule. These documentation elements address staff intensity ratio requirements and are in addition to the documentation requirements for the delivery of HCBS waiver services contained in rule 5123:2-9-05 of the Administrative Code. [Addressed in adult day support, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation rules.]

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~(3)~~(9) Each provider is responsible to document that sufficient numbers of staff are assigned to provide adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave services to one ~~waiver enrollee and/or waiver enrollee and non-waiver enrollees~~ individual enrolled in a waiver and/or individual enrolled in a waiver and individuals not enrolled in a waiver, when combined in one grouping, at the staff intensity ratio required by each individual. The determination of each individual's staff intensity ratio is to be derived using the procedures described in ~~paragraphs (E) and (F)~~ paragraph (E) of this rule.

~~(4)~~(10) For purposes of delivering adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community ~~waiver services~~, not more than sixteen individuals may be combined into one program group, irrespective of the waiver enrollment/non-enrollment status or funding source of the individual participants.

~~(5)~~(11) Providers billing on a daily unit basis or fifteen-minute unit basis must ~~assure~~ ensure that individuals receive waiver services at the staff intensity ratios for their assigned groups, based upon their acuity assessment instrument scores, for seventy-five per cent of the time they receive adult day support, vocational habilitation, or supported employment-enclave ~~services~~ or when a combination of adult day support and vocational habilitation ~~services are~~ is provided by the same service provider during one calendar day.

~~As an example, assume that in a six hour day, an individual is receiving four hours of adult day support and two hours of vocational habilitation from the same provider. The individual is assigned to group B and the provider is billing a daily rate. The individual must receive waiver services at a staff intensity ratio of 0.166667 at least 4.5 hours during that day. During the other 1.5 hours in the day, the individual may receive services at a larger staff intensity ratio and the provider may bill the daily rate for the individual. [Examples are more appropriate for technical assistance and interpretive guidance.]~~

~~(6)~~(12) Calculation of the seventy-five per cent expectation contained in paragraph ~~(J)(5)~~ (E)(11) of this rule related to group size applies to the numbers of persons present in the group at the time during each day when the provider actually bills the waiver for services provided.

~~(7)~~(13) Only direct services staff who meet certification standards for the waiver service being provided and who are providing waiver services are eligible to bill for the provision of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services. The daily responsibilities of direct services staff are to assist, supervise, and provide supports to individuals ~~with mental retardation and developmental disabilities~~ who receive these services. Direct services are intended to reinforce the

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

objectives contained in the ~~ISP~~ individual service plan developed for each individual.

- ~~(8)~~(14) Neither supervisors nor professional staff are considered to be direct services staff for the purposes of meeting the staff intensity ratio requirements related to implementation of the services addressed in this rule unless they meet the certification requirements to provide and are providing one or more of the adult day support, vocational habilitation, and/or supported employment-enclave services.

~~(K)~~(G) Payment authorization and administrative review

- (1) The county board shall complete a payment authorization and the service and support administrator shall ensure waiver services are initiated for an individual whose annual cost for adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and/or vocational habilitation and whose annual cost for non-medical transportation are within or below the budget limitations determined in accordance with this rule. The service and support administrator shall inform the individual in writing, and in a form and manner the individual can understand, of his/her due process rights and responsibilities as set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code. [This is paragraph (L)(1) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]
- (2) When the annual cost for adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and/or vocational habilitation exceeds the assigned budget limitation, the service and support administrator shall inform the individual of his/her right to request an administrative review to obtain adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and/or vocational habilitation services that result in a new staff intensity group assignment and budget limitation that exceeds the budget limitation calculated initially by the county board in accordance with the process described in paragraph (C) of this rule. [This is paragraph (L)(2)(a) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]
- ~~(1)(3) Individuals eligible for an administrative review process are limited to waiver applicants and/or enrollees~~ Applicants for and recipients of waiver services who demonstrate that situational demands associated with the adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community services in which they desire to participate require a staffing ratio and resulting budget limitation that is greater than the group assignment resulting from administration of the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument may submit a request for administrative review. Administrative review requests shall not be accepted for individuals having a group C assignment. [This is paragraph (K)(1) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~As an example, an individual participating in supported employment enclave services whose assessment results indicate his/her placement in group B may require the 0.333333 staff intensity ratio of group C for several weeks in order to learn the steps required for him/her to complete a new enclave assignment. Through the administrative review process, the individual would be eligible to request and obtain department approval to increase his/her funding level for a specified period of time to accommodate this enriched staffing pattern, based upon the supporting documentation submitted. [Examples are more appropriate for technical assistance and interpretive guidance.]~~

~~(2)~~(4) The department considers the budget limitations contained in appendix ~~B~~ C to this rule sufficient to meet the service requirements of any adult participating in out-of-facility day services. Therefore, in no instance will the group assignment and resulting total ~~annual~~ budget limitation approved through the administrative review process exceed the published amount for group C in the cost-of-doing-business category in which the individual receives the preponderance of the services addressed in this rule. [This is paragraph (K)(2) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

~~(3)~~(5) An individual or the county board, with the concurrence of the individual, may submit a request for administrative review to the department. County boards shall assist an individual to complete an administrative review request when asked to do so by the individual. [This is paragraph (K)(3) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

~~(4)~~(6) The individual or county board requesting administrative review shall submit the information requested by the department, including, but not limited to: [This is paragraph (K)(4) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

- (a) The proposed staff intensity ratio for each waiver service;
- (b) The duration of the proposed staff intensity ratio for each waiver service; and
- (c) A statement justifying the proposed staff intensity ratio with supporting documentation.

~~(5)~~(7) The department shall make a determination within thirty calendar days following receipt of all documentation as defined in paragraph ~~(K)(4)~~ (G)(6) of this rule and shall notify the individual and county board in writing of the determination. [This is paragraph (K)(5) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

~~(6)~~(8) The ~~duration of each~~ administrative review approval shall ~~be limited~~ apply to the individual's ~~twelve-month~~ current waiver eligibility span. ~~The duration of the approval may be determined by the department to extend to each month or a portion of the months in the twelve-month eligibility span. The department may extend the approval to one or more months in the consecutive waiver eligibility~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

span. Requests for administrative review may be submitted on an as-needed basis and will be considered for approval if the individual continues to meet the criteria established by the department. [\[This is paragraph \(K\)\(6\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

~~(7) Within fifteen days following the determination by the department that the individual's request for administrative review approval has been granted, the county board shall submit to the department a PAWS to initiate services that reflect this approval.~~ [\[This is paragraph \(K\)\(7\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19. It is redundant with paragraph \(L\)\(2\)\(b\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

~~(8)~~(9) Following its completion of the administrative review process, the department shall also inform the individual in writing, and in a form and manner the individual can understand, of his/her due process rights and responsibilities as set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code. [\[This is paragraph \(K\)\(8\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

(10) If, through the administrative review process, the department approves the request for an increased budget limitation, the county board shall ensure a payment authorization is completed within fifteen days following the determination by the department and shall ensure that waiver services are initiated. [\[This is paragraph \(L\)\(2\)\(b\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

(11) If, through the administrative review process, the request for an increased budget limitation is denied, or the service is not subject to an administrative review, the service and support administrator shall initiate the individual service plan development process to determine if an individual service plan can be developed that is acceptable to the individual and is within the assigned budget limitation. [\[This is paragraph \(L\)\(2\)\(c\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

(a) If an individual service plan that meets these conditions is developed, the county board shall ensure a payment authorization is completed and shall ensure waiver services are initiated. [\[This is paragraph \(K\)\(2\)\(c\)\(i\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

(b) If an individual service plan that meets these conditions cannot be developed, the county board shall propose to deny the initial or continuing provision of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-enclave, and/or supported employment-community and inform the individual of his/her due process rights and responsibilities as set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code. [\[This is paragraph \(K\)\(2\)\(c\)\(ii\) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.\]](#)

(12) The department shall use the twelve-month period following either an individual's initial enrollment date or the date the individual transitions to one or more of the services addressed in this rule to verify that cumulative payments

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

made for waiver services remain within the approved budget limitations specified in this rule. [This is paragraph (K)(3) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

- ~~(9)(13) ODJFS~~ The Ohio department of job and family services retains the final authority, based on the recommendation of the department, to review, revise, and approve any element of the decision process resulting in a determination made under this paragraph. [This is paragraph (K)(9) of existing rule 5123:2-9-19.]

~~(L) Payment authorization~~ [This paragraph has been incorporated into paragraph (G).]

- ~~(1) The county board shall complete a PAWS and the SSA shall assure waiver services are initiated for an individual whose combined annualized costs for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services and whose combined annualized costs for non-medical transportation to access one or more of these services are within or below the budget limitations determined in accordance with this rule. The SSA shall also inform the individual in writing, and in a form and manner the individual can understand, of his/her due process rights and responsibilities as set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code.~~
- ~~(2) When the annualized costs for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services exceed the assigned budget limitations:~~
- ~~(a) The SSA shall inform the individual of his/her right to request an administrative review to obtain adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services that results in a new staff intensity group assignment and budget limitation that exceeds the budget limitation calculated initially by the county board in accordance with the process described in paragraph (E) of this rule.~~
- ~~(b) If, through the administrative review process, the department approves the request for an increased budget limitation, the county board shall assure a PAWS is completed within fifteen days following the determination by the department and shall assure that waiver services are initiated.~~
- ~~(c) If, through the administrative review process, the request for an increased budget limitation is denied, or the service is not subject to an administrative review, the SSA shall initiate the ISP planning process to determine if an ISP can be developed that is acceptable to the individual and is within the assigned budget limitation.~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- ~~(i) If an ISP that meets these conditions is developed, the county board shall assure a PAWS is completed and shall assure waiver services are initiated.~~
- ~~(ii) If an ISP that meets these conditions cannot be developed, the county board shall propose to deny the initial or continuing provision of adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment enclave, and/or supported employment community services and inform the individual of his/her due process rights and responsibilities as set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code.~~
- ~~(3) The department shall use the twelve month period following either an individual's initial enrollment date or the date the individual transitions to one or more of the services addressed in this rule to verify that cumulative payments made for waiver services remain within the approved budget limitations specified in this rule for each individual.~~

~~(M) State level authorization~~

- ~~(1) ODJFS retains the final authority, based upon the recommendation of the department, to review and approve each service identified in the ISP that is funded through the HCBS waiver and the payment rate for the service. [Addressed in paragraph (M) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~
- ~~(2) ODJFS retains the final authority, based upon the recommendation of the department, to authorize the provision and payment of waiver services through the PAWS process. [Addressed in paragraph (M) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~
- ~~(3) When combined, payment amounts for waiver services shall not exceed the amounts authorized through the PAWS process for the corresponding time period for an individual. [Addressed in paragraph (J)(10) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(N) Payment limitations for HCBS waiver services~~

~~Payment for an HCBS waiver service constitutes payment in full. Payment shall be made for HCBS waiver services when: [Addressed in paragraph (J)(9) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

- ~~(1) The service is identified in an approved ISP; [Addressed in paragraph (J)(9)(a) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~
- ~~(2) The service is recommended for payment through the PAWS process; [Addressed in paragraph (J)(9)(b) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~(3) The service is provided by a certified HCBS waiver service provider selected by an individual enrolled on the waiver; [Addressed in paragraph (J)(9)(c) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(4) No greater than twenty-four hourly units of each type of waiver services, or equivalent fifteen minute units, are authorized through the PAWS process; and [Paragraph (J)(10) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06 sets forth that payment for waiver services shall not exceed amounts authorized through the cost projection and payment authorization for the individual's corresponding waiver eligibility span. Paragraph (I)(3) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06 sets forth that the total number of service units shall be determined with input from the individual's team as part of the ISP development process.]~~

~~(5) Payment for waiver services is the lesser of the provider's charge or the statewide payment rate as described in paragraph (D) of this rule. [Addressed in paragraph (J)(1) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(O) Claims for payment of HCBS waiver services~~

~~(1) Claims for payment of HCBS waiver services shall be submitted to the department in the format prescribed by the department in billing instructions for HCBS waiver services. The department shall inform county boards of the billing information submitted by providers in a manner and at the frequency necessary to assist the county boards to manage the waiver expenditures being authorized. [Addressed in paragraph (K)(2) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(2) Claims for payment shall be submitted within three hundred thirty days after the HCBS waiver service is provided. Payment shall be made in accordance with the requirements of rule 5101:3-1-19.7 of the Administrative Code, except that claims submitted beyond the three hundred thirty day deadline shall be rejected. [Addressed in paragraph (K)(3) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(3) All HCBS waiver service providers shall take reasonable measures to identify any third party health care coverage available to the individual and file a claim with that third party in accordance with the requirements of rule 5101:3-1-08 of the Administrative Code. [Addressed in paragraph (K)(4) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

~~(4) For individuals with a monthly patient liability for the cost of HCBS waiver services, as defined in rule 5101:1-39-95 of the Administrative Code, and determined by the county department of job and family services for the county in which the individual resides, payment is available only for the HCBS waiver service(s) delivered to the individual that exceeds the amount of the individual's monthly patient liability. Verification that patient liability has been satisfied shall be accomplished as follows: [Addressed in paragraph (K)(5) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- ~~(a) The department shall provide notification to the appropriate county board identifying each individual who has a patient liability for HCBS waiver services and the monthly amount of the patient liability.~~
- ~~(b) The county board shall assign the HCBS waiver service(s) to which each individual's patient liability shall be applied and assign the corresponding monthly patient liability amount to an HCBS waiver service provider. The county board shall notify each individual and HCBS waiver service provider, in writing, of this assignment.~~
- ~~(c) Upon submission of a claim for payment, the designated HCBS waiver service provider shall report the HCBS waiver service to which the patient liability was assigned and the applicable patient liability amount on the claim for payment using the format prescribed by the department in billing instructions for HCBS waiver services.~~
- ~~(5) The department, ODJFS, the centers for medicare and medicaid services, and/or the state auditor may audit any funds a provider of HCBS waiver services receives pursuant to this rule, including any source documentation supporting the claiming and/or receipt of such funds. [Addressed in paragraph (K)(7) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~
- ~~(6) An HCBS waiver service provider shall maintain the records necessary and in such form to disclose fully the extent of HCBS waiver services provided, for a period of six years from the date of receipt of payment or until an initiated audit is resolved, whichever is longer. The records shall be made available upon request to the department, ODJFS, the centers for medicare and medicaid services, and/or the state auditor. Providers who fail to produce the records requested within thirty days following the request will be subject to de-certification and/or loss of their medicaid provider agreement. [Addressed in paragraph (K)(9) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~
- ~~(7) In accordance with the provisions outlined in rule 5123:2-9-08 of the Administrative Code, the department shall monitor the compliance of providers with the conditions of this rule and its appendices as well as with rules 5123:2-9-16, 5123:2-9-17, and 5123:2-9-18 of the Administrative Code. Technical support, as determined necessary by the department, shall be provided upon request and through regional and statewide trainings. [Paragraph (N)(2) of existing rule 5123:2-2-01 sets forth that certified providers shall be subject to monitoring and compliance reviews as set forth in rules promulgated by the department.]~~

~~(P)~~(H) Due process rights and responsibilities

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

- (1) ~~Any recipient or applicant for waiver services administered by the department may utilize the process set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code, in accordance with division 5101:6 of the Administrative Code, for any purpose authorized by that statute and the rules implementing the statute. The process set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code is available only to applicants, recipients, and their lawfully appointed authorized representatives. Providers shall have no standing in an appeal under this section. [Addressed in paragraph (L)(1) of existing rule 5123:2-9-06.]~~
- (2) Applicants for and recipients of waiver services administered by the department shall use the process set forth in section 5101.35 of the Revised Code for any challenge related to the administration and/or scoring of the ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument or to the type, amount/level, scope, or duration of services included or excluded from an ~~ISP~~ individual service plan. For purposes of clarity, a change in staff to waiver recipient service ratios does not automatically result in a change in the level of services received by an individual.

Effective: XX/XX/XXXX

R.C. 119.032 review dates: XX/XX/XXXX

Promulgated Under: 119.03  
Statutory Authority: 5111.871, 5111.873, 5123.04  
Rule Amplifies: 5111.871, 5111.873, 5123.04  
Prior Effective Dates: 01/01/2007, 10/01/2007

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

APPENDIX ~~D~~ A

STAFF INTENSITY RATIOS

The ~~ODMRDD~~ acuity assessment instrument score determines the amount (intensity) of direct services staff time required by each individual when receiving adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-community, and/or supported employment-enclave ~~services~~.

Group	Acuity Assessment <u>Instrument</u> Score	Grouping	Staff Intensity (Portion of One Staff Needed Per Individual Served)
A	8 to 22 *	1 staff to no more than 12 individuals when all have a staff intensity ratio need of A.	0.083333
A-1	8 to 22 *	1 staff to no more than 16 individuals when all have a staff intensity ratio need of A-1.	0.062500
B	23 to 34	1 staff to no more than 6 individuals when all have a staff intensity ratio need of B.	0.166667
C	35 to 55	1 staff to no more than 3 individuals when all have a staff intensity ratio need of C.	0.333333

- \* Because acuity assessment instrument scores related to assignment of an individual to the A or A-1 staff intensity groups are identical, assignment of the individual to one of these two groups will be based upon the staffing need of the individual as identified in the individual service plan development process and reflected in the individual service plan.
- \*\* Individuals may be served in program groups that include ~~waiver enrollees and non-waiver enrollees~~ individuals enrolled in home and community-based services ~~waivers and individuals who are not enrolled in waivers~~, as well as individuals with differing group assignments (A, A-1, B, or C) as long as sufficient number of direct services staff are providing services to all individuals in the group. Calculation of the required number of direct services staff is described in ~~appendix E to paragraph (E) of~~ appendix E to paragraph (E) of this rule. In no instance, however, shall a program group include more than sixteen individuals when the provider bills for adult day support, vocational habilitation, supported employment-community, and/or supported employment-enclave for one or more of the participants in the group.

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

APPENDIX A B

COST-OF-DOING-BUSINESS CATEGORIES

Category 1: Adams  
Athens  
Belmont  
Gallia  
Guernsey  
Harrison  
Jefferson  
Meigs  
Monroe  
Pike  
Ross  
Scioto  
Tuscarawas  
Vinton  
Washington

Category 2: Carroll  
Crawford  
Defiance  
Highland  
Hocking  
Jackson  
Lawrence  
Mercer  
Morgan  
Muskingum  
Noble  
Paulding  
Perry  
Van Wert  
Wyandot

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

Category 3:

- Allen
- Auglaize
- Brown
- Clinton
- Columbiana
- Coshocton
- Fayette
- Hancock
- Holmes
- Knox
- Marion
- Morrow
- Putnam
- Richland
- Seneca
- Shelby
- Williams

Category 4:

- Ashland
- Darke
- Erie
- Fairfield
- Fulton
- Hardin
- Henry
- Huron
- Licking
- Logan
- Mahoning
- Pickaway
- Sandusky
- Stark
- Trumbull
- Wood

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

Category 5: Ashtabula  
Champaign  
Clark  
Delaware  
Greene  
Lucas  
Madison  
Miami  
Montgomery  
Ottawa  
Preble  
Union  
Wayne

Category 6: Clermont  
Franklin  
Geauga  
Lake  
Lorain  
Medina  
Portage  
Summit

Category 7: Butler  
Cuyahoga  
Warren

Category 8: Hamilton

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

APPENDIX ~~B~~ C

BUDGET LIMITATIONS

The following budget limitations apply to adult day support, supported employment-community, supported employment-enclave, and vocational habilitation when these services are provided ~~separately~~ alone or in combination. Budget limitations are ~~arrayed~~ by adjusted based on the cost-of-doing-business (CODB) category.

CODB Category	Group A	Group A-1	Group B	Group C
1	\$9,480	\$9,480	\$17,040	\$28,380
2	\$9,540	\$9,540	\$17,220	\$28,680
3	\$9,660	\$9,660	\$17,400	\$28,980
4	\$9,780	\$9,780	\$17,580	\$29,280
5	\$9,840	\$9,840	\$17,760	\$29,580
6	\$9,960	\$9,960	\$17,940	\$29,880
7	\$10,080	\$10,080	\$18,120	\$30,120
8	\$10,140	\$10,140	\$18,240	\$30,420

~~Following are the combined annual budget limitations that apply to the provision of Non-Medical Transportation services to access Adult Day Support, Vocational Habilitation, Supported Employment Enclave, and/or Supported Employment Community services. Combined annual budget limitations are arrayed by CODB category.~~

The following budget limitations apply to non-medical transportation. Budget limitations are adjusted based on the cost-of-doing-business (CODB) category.

CODB Category	Total
1	\$8,990
2	\$9,086
3	\$9,178
4	\$9,269
5	\$9,365
6	\$9,456
7	\$9,552
8	\$9,643

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

APPENDIX C

SERVICE CODES AND PAYMENT RATES FOR ADULT DAY SUPPORT,  
VOCATIONAL HABILITATION, SUPPORTED EMPLOYMENT ENCLAVE,  
SUPPORTED EMPLOYMENT COMMUNITY, AND  
NON MEDICAL TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

[Service codes and payment rates are included in service rules.]

**Adult Day Support**

Billing Unit:—Fifteen minutes and daily

Service Codes: Individual Options Waiver 15 Minute Unit: ADF  
Individual Options Waiver Daily Unit: ADS  
Level One Waiver 15 Minute Unit: FDF  
Level One Waiver Daily Unit: FDS

Reimbursement Rate:—Listed below by cost of doing business (CODB) category. Rates are presented on a per person basis, segregated by group assignment and related staff intensity requirements. Rates shall not be further altered to reflect actual group size.

CODB Category	Group A		Group A-1		Group B		Group C	
	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate
1	\$1.58	\$39.50	\$1.19	\$29.56	\$2.84	\$71.00	\$4.73	\$118.25
2	\$1.59	\$39.75	\$1.20	\$29.86	\$2.87	\$71.75	\$4.78	\$119.50
3	\$1.61	\$40.25	\$1.21	\$30.17	\$2.90	\$72.50	\$4.83	\$120.75
4	\$1.63	\$40.75	\$1.22	\$30.47	\$2.93	\$73.25	\$4.88	\$122.00
5	\$1.64	\$41.00	\$1.23	\$30.78	\$2.96	\$74.00	\$4.93	\$123.25
6	\$1.66	\$41.50	\$1.25	\$31.09	\$2.99	\$74.75	\$4.98	\$124.50
7	\$1.68	\$42.00	\$1.26	\$31.39	\$3.02	\$75.50	\$5.02	\$125.50
8	\$1.69	\$42.25	\$1.27	\$31.70	\$3.04	\$76.00	\$5.07	\$126.75

**Vocational Habilitation**

Billing Unit:—Fifteen minutes and daily

Service Codes: Individual Options Waiver 15 Minute Unit: AVF  
Individual Options Waiver Daily Unit: AVH  
Level One Waiver 15 Minute Unit: FVF  
Level One Waiver Daily Unit: FVH

# \*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

~~Reimbursement Rate: Listed below by CODB category. Rates are presented on a per person basis, segregated by group assignment and related staff intensity requirements. Rates shall not be further altered to reflect actual group size.~~

CODB Category	Group A		Group A-1		Group B		Group C	
	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate
1	\$1.58	\$39.50	\$1.19	\$29.56	\$2.84	\$71.00	\$4.73	\$118.25
2	\$1.59	\$39.75	\$1.20	\$29.86	\$2.87	\$71.75	\$4.78	\$119.50
3	\$1.61	\$40.25	\$1.21	\$30.17	\$2.90	\$72.50	\$4.83	\$120.75
4	\$1.63	\$40.75	\$1.22	\$30.47	\$2.93	\$73.25	\$4.88	\$122.00
5	\$1.64	\$41.00	\$1.23	\$30.78	\$2.96	\$74.00	\$4.93	\$123.25
6	\$1.66	\$41.50	\$1.25	\$31.09	\$2.99	\$74.75	\$4.98	\$124.50
7	\$1.68	\$42.00	\$1.26	\$31.39	\$3.02	\$75.50	\$5.02	\$125.50
8	\$1.69	\$42.25	\$1.27	\$31.70	\$3.04	\$76.00	\$5.07	\$126.75

## ~~Adult Day Support and Vocational Habilitation~~

~~Billing Unit: Fifteen minutes and daily~~

Service Codes: Individual Options Waiver 15 Minute Unit: AXF  
 Individual Options Waiver Daily Unit: AXD  
 Level One Waiver 15 Minute Unit: FXF  
 Level One Waiver Daily Unit: FXD

~~Reimbursement Rate: The billing codes listed below by CODB category shall be used when one waiver provider provides a combination of Adult Day Support and Vocational Habilitation services to one individual in one calendar day. While service units may be combined to result in either a daily rate or accumulated 15 minute units, the provider shall not bill for a daily unit of this service on the same day that 15 minute units of this combined service are billed for the same individual. Rates are presented on a per person basis, segregated by group assignment and related staff intensity requirements. Rates shall not be further altered to reflect actual group size.~~

CODB Category	Group A		Group A-1		Group B		Group C	
	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate
1	\$1.58	\$39.50	\$1.19	\$29.56	\$2.84	\$71.00	\$4.73	\$118.25
2	\$1.59	\$39.75	\$1.20	\$29.86	\$2.87	\$71.75	\$4.78	\$119.50
3	\$1.61	\$40.25	\$1.21	\$30.17	\$2.90	\$72.50	\$4.83	\$120.75
4	\$1.63	\$40.75	\$1.22	\$30.47	\$2.93	\$73.25	\$4.88	\$122.00

**\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\***

5	\$1.64	\$41.00	\$1.23	\$30.78	\$2.96	\$74.00	\$4.93	\$123.25
6	\$1.66	\$41.50	\$1.25	\$31.09	\$2.99	\$74.75	\$4.98	\$124.50
7	\$1.68	\$42.00	\$1.26	\$31.39	\$3.02	\$75.50	\$5.02	\$125.50
8	\$1.69	\$42.25	\$1.27	\$31.70	\$3.04	\$76.00	\$5.07	\$126.75

**~~Supported Employment-Enclave~~**

~~Billing Unit: Fifteen minutes and daily~~

~~Service Codes: Individual Options Waiver 15 Minute Unit: ANF  
Individual Options Waiver Daily Unit: AND  
Level One Waiver 15 Minute Unit: FNF  
Level One Waiver Daily Unit: FND~~

~~Reimbursement Rate: Listed below by CODB category. Rates are presented on a per-person basis, segregated by group assignment and related staff intensity requirements. Rates shall not be further altered to reflect actual group size.~~

CODB Category	Group A		Group A-1		Group B		Group C	
	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate	15 Min Rate	Daily Rate
1	\$1.38	\$33.18	\$1.04	\$25.94	\$2.49	\$59.76	\$4.15	\$99.60
2	\$1.40	\$33.54	\$1.05	\$26.21	\$2.52	\$60.36	\$4.19	\$100.62
3	\$1.41	\$33.90	\$1.06	\$26.48	\$2.54	\$61.02	\$4.24	\$101.70
4	\$1.43	\$34.26	\$1.07	\$26.75	\$2.57	\$61.62	\$4.28	\$102.72
5	\$1.44	\$34.56	\$1.08	\$27.02	\$2.59	\$62.22	\$4.32	\$103.74
6	\$1.46	\$34.92	\$1.09	\$27.29	\$2.62	\$62.88	\$4.37	\$104.76
7	\$1.47	\$35.28	\$1.10	\$27.55	\$2.65	\$63.48	\$4.41	\$105.84
8	\$1.49	\$35.64	\$1.11	\$27.82	\$2.67	\$64.08	\$4.45	\$106.86

**~~Supported Employment-Community~~**

~~Billing Unit: Fifteen minutes~~

~~Service Codes: Individual Options Waiver: ACO  
Level One Waiver: FCO~~

~~Reimbursement Rate: Listed below by CODB category. To obtain the per-person rate when two or more individuals receive service simultaneously, divide the base rate in the appropriate group category by the number of persons in the group.~~

**\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\***

**Agency and/or County Board Provider Base Rates/1 Staff**

<b>CODB Category</b>	<b>Serving 1 Individual</b>	<b>Serving 2 Individuals</b>	<b>Serving 3 Individuals</b>	<b>Serving 4 or More Individuals</b>
1	\$5.79	\$6.20	\$6.77	\$7.53
2	\$5.85	\$6.26	\$6.84	\$7.61
3	\$5.91	\$6.32	\$6.92	\$7.68
4	\$5.97	\$6.39	\$6.99	\$7.76
5	\$6.03	\$6.45	\$7.06	\$7.84
6	\$6.09	\$6.52	\$7.13	\$7.92
7	\$6.15	\$6.58	\$7.20	\$8.00
8	\$6.21	\$6.65	\$7.27	\$8.07

**Individual Provider Base Rates/1 Staff**

<b>CODB Category</b>	<b>Serving 1 Individual</b>	<b>Serving 2 Individuals</b>	<b>Serving 3 Individuals</b>	<b>Serving 4 or More Individuals</b>
1	\$5.79	\$6.20	\$6.77	\$7.53
2	\$5.85	\$6.26	\$6.84	\$7.61
3	\$5.91	\$6.32	\$6.92	\$7.68
4	\$5.97	\$6.39	\$6.99	\$7.76
5	\$6.03	\$6.45	\$7.06	\$7.84
6	\$6.09	\$6.52	\$7.13	\$7.92
7	\$6.15	\$6.58	\$7.20	\$8.00
8	\$6.21	\$6.65	\$7.27	\$8.07

**~~Supported Employment Enclave and/or Supported Employment Community—  
Equipment Purchase and/or Modification~~**

**Billing Unit:** ~~Per Item~~

**Service Codes:**    **Individual Options Waiver:**    **AEQ**  
                                  **Level One Waiver:**                            **FEQ**

**Reimbursement Rate:** ~~Actual cost, per item. Claims for payment shall be submitted to the department with verification that the item purchased and/or modified meets the requirements specified in the ISP, that the item has been found to be satisfactory by the individual for whom it was purchased, and that the item meets applicable manufacturing standards. The verification submitted shall be in a format prescribed by the department.~~

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

**~~Non-Medical Transportation (Per Mile) to Access Adult Day Support, Vocational Habilitation, Supported Employment Enclave, and/or Supported Employment-Community Services~~**

~~Billing Unit: Per mile based on commute~~

~~Service Codes: Individual Options Waiver: ATW  
Level One Waiver: FTW~~

~~Reimbursement Rate: Listed below by CODB category. Rates are paid to commute one mile. To calculate the total cost of the commute, divide the rate per mile by the total number of passengers in the vehicle at any one time during the commute. Multiply the resulting per person, per-mile rate by the number of miles in the commute to determine the per person amount to be billed to the waiver for the commute. Rate calculations include the cost of the driver.~~

~~Note: Refer to paragraph (D)(2) of rule 5123:2-9-18 of the Administrative Code for guidance on how to calculate the number of miles in a commute and how to determine the number of passengers in a vehicle.~~

CODB Category	Rate Per Mile
1	\$1.25
2	\$1.25
3	\$1.27
4	\$1.27
5	\$1.27
6	\$1.29
7	\$1.29
8	\$1.29

**~~Non-Medical Transportation (Per Trip) to Access Adult Day Support, Vocational Habilitation, Supported Employment Enclave, and/or Supported Employment-Community Services~~**

~~Billing Unit: Per one-way trip~~

~~Service Codes:~~

Individual Options Waiver—Taxi/Livery or Commercial Bus:	ATT
Individual Options Waiver—Vehicle Eligible for One-Way Trip Rate:	ATB
Level One Waiver—Taxi/Livery or Commercial Bus:	FTT
Level One Waiver—Vehicle Eligible for One-Way Trip Rate:	FTB

\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\*

Reimbursement Rate: ~~Listed below by CODB category. Rates are presented on a per-person basis and shall not be further altered, irrespective of the number of persons being transported simultaneously. Rate calculations include the cost of the vehicle driver.~~

CODB Category	Cost Per Trip Taxi/Livery	Cost Per Trip Commercial Bus	One-Way Trip In Vehicle
1	Actual	Actual	\$18.73
2	Actual	Actual	\$18.93
3	Actual	Actual	\$19.12
4	Actual	Actual	\$19.31
5	Actual	Actual	\$19.51
6	Actual	Actual	\$19.70
7	Actual	Actual	\$19.90
8	Actual	Actual	\$20.09

APPENDIX E

~~CALCULATION OF MINIMUM NUMBER OF DIRECT SERVICES STAFF AND  
ELEMENTS OF DOCUMENTATION REQUIRED FOR BILLING HCBS ADULT  
DAY SUPPORT, VOCATIONAL HABILITATION, AND SUPPORTED  
EMPLOYMENT ENCLAVE SERVICES~~

~~The calculation of minimum number of direct services staff and the elements of documentation contained in this appendix relate solely to verification of staff intensity ratios that result from administration of the ODMRDD Acuity Assessment Instrument (AAI) and are necessary to justify billing. Providers are also required to meet the documentation requirements contained in rule 5123:2-9-05 of the Administrative Code related to the provision of waiver services and the ISP development requirements contained in rule 5123:2-1-11 of the Administrative Code.~~

~~The minimum number of direct services staff required to support the billing for Adult Day Support, Vocational Habilitation, and/or Supported Employment Enclave services may be determined by aggregating the staff intensity needs for all waiver enrollees and non-waiver enrollees receiving services from one certified waiver provider in one service delivery location during a calendar day. Calculation of the minimum number of direct services staff required to meet the staff intensity needs at a waiver service delivery location will depend upon the number of individuals receiving services in one day, the times during the day in which they receive services, and their staff intensity needs. In the event the required number of direct services staff are not present at a location where waiver services are delivered, the provider shall bill only for those times during the day in which waiver services were delivered to the individuals whose staff intensity needs were met.~~ [This paragraph moved to service rules under "Payment Standards."]

[The following documentation elements moved to service rules under "Documentation of Services."]

~~The following documentation elements are required to verify the provision of Adult Day Support, Vocational Habilitation, and/or Supported Employment Enclave services at the required staff intensity ratio. These documentation elements shall be recorded on a per-person basis for each calendar day in which a certified waiver provider provides service:~~

- ~~1. Staff intensity ratio. The portion of direct services staff needed is expressed in decimals in appendix D to this rule. When non-waiver enrollees are served in a group with waiver enrollees, it is recommended that the AAI be used to determine the staff intensity needs of the non-waiver enrollees. If the AAI is not used, the staff intensity needs of non-waiver enrollees shall be determined through the ISP development process applicable to them.~~
- ~~2. Date of service.~~

**\*\*\* Proposed Amendments - December 9, 2011 \*\*\***

3. ~~Location of service.~~
4. ~~Service codes. These codes shall correlate to the codes listed in appendix C to this rule and also to the billing documents submitted by the provider for payment of waiver services delivered.~~
5. ~~In/out times for services delivered. One sign in and one sign out entry may be used when the same staff member expends continuous blocks of time to deliver the same service in one day to an individual.~~
6. ~~Minutes of service delivered each day, by service code. When Adult Day Support and Vocational Habilitation services are provided to the same individual on one day by one provider, the minutes of service may be documented for the day and billed using the Adult Day Support and Vocational Habilitation service code identified in appendix C to this rule.~~
7. ~~Verification of staff intensity ratios per calendar day. Indicate for each waiver enrollee served:~~
  - a. ~~The names of other individuals present when waiver services are provided.~~
  - b. ~~The names of the direct services staff who delivered services.~~
  - c. ~~The initials of the direct services staff indicating all time periods/time spans during which they provided waiver services to the individual. (Legends indicating signatures and initials of direct services staff may be retained separately from documentation sheets.)~~
  - d. ~~The average staff intensity ratio for the combined time periods when one or more waiver services are provided during the calendar day by direct services staff employed by the same certified provider or by the certified provider directly and/or through subcontractors of the certified provider.~~